## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

Ottawa Education Association
Petitioner-Appellant,
v.
Secretary of the Kansas Department of Labor

And

Board of Education of U.S.D. No. 290, Franklin County, Kansas Respondent-Appellees

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Appeal from the District Court of Franklin County, Kansas Honorable Eric W. Godderz, Judge District Court Case No. 12CV136

> David M. Schauner S.Ct. No. 8989 Kansas National Education Association 715 SW 10th Street Topeka, Kansas 66612 Phone: (785) 232-8271 Fax: (785) 290-0375

Attorney for Appellant Ottawa Education Association

#

## I. NATURE OF THE CASE

The Petitioner filed a prohibited practice complaint against the Respondent on April 19, 2010, alleging that the Respondent Board of Education of U.S.D. No. 290 had made a unilateral change in the mandatory topic of "salary and wages" when it implemented, without negotiating, a Key Return Policy with a monetary penalty that penalized teachers by charging them an amount of up to \$500 for lost building and room keys. The case was submitted for resolution to the Secretary of the Kansas Department of Labor pursuant to Motions for Summary Judgment based on facts stipulated by the parties. The Secretary's designee issued his Initial Order on April 10, 2012, finding that no prohibited practice had been committed, and dismissing Petitioner's complaint. Petitioner requested Secretary's Review of the Initial Order. The Secretary's representative denied review of the Initial Order in his Agency Final Order Denying Review.

Petitioner appealed the Secretary's Order to the District Court of Franklin County. On December 7, 2012, Judge Eric W. Godderz of the Franklin County District Court filed his Order denying the Petition and affirming the findings and ruling of the Presiding Officer in his Initial Order. The Appeal to this court is from that judgment.

## II. <u>ISSUES ON APPEAL</u>

- 1. WHETHER THE MONETARY PENALTY IN THE BOARD OF EDUCATION'S "KEY RETURN POLICY" IS MANDATORILY NEGOTIABLE UNDER THE PROFESSIONAL NEGOTIATIONS ACT?
- 2. WHETHER THE BOARD COMMITTED A PROHIBITED PRACTICE IN VIOLATION OF K.S.A. 72-5430(b)(5) WHEN IT FAILED TO NEGOTIATE THE \$500 MONETARY PENALTY PORTION OF ITS KEY RETURN POLICY?

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This prohibited practice case was submitted for a decision by the Kansas Department of Labor based on facts stipulated by the parties. On review of the agency decision by the district court, the court made no factual findings of its own. The facts, as stipulated by the parties, are the following:

- 1. The Ottawa Unified School District No. 290, Franklin County, Kansas (Board or District) is a school district duly organized pursuant to Article 6, Section 5 of the Kansas Constitution and Chapter 72 of the Kansas Statutes Annotated. (R. I, 13.)
- 2. The Ottawa Education Association (Association) has been duly recognized as the exclusive bargaining representative of the professional employees of the Board under the Professional Negotiations Act, K.S.A. 72-5413 *et seq.* (R. I, 13.)
- 3. The Board and the Association have entered into a Negotiated Agreement that contains the parties' agreement with regard to "terms and conditions of professional service" for the Board's professional employees for the 2009-2010 school year. (R. I, 13.)

- 4. A true and accurate copy of the Negotiated Agreement for the 2009-2010 school year is attached to the parties' Stipulations of Fact as Exhibit A. (R. I, 13.)
- 5. During negotiations for the 2009-2010 Negotiated Agreement, the Board and the Association neither noticed for negotiation nor negotiated any provision concerning keys to school district buildings or the costs of replacing lost or stolen keys. (R. I, 13.)
- 6. The parties' 2009-2010 Negotiated Agreement does not contain a provision that addresses the issuance of keys to school buildings or the costs of replacing lost or stolen keys. (R. I, 13.)
- 7. At its regular meeting on Monday, December 14, 2009, the Board adopted a policy regarding Key Request Procedures. (R. I, 13.)
- 8. As initially drafted, the policy stated, "The employee will be charged \$350.00 \$500.00 per key to allow district to re-key facility and reissue staff keys." (R. I, 13.)
- 9. On December 22, 2009, Chuck Tilman filed a level 3 grievance on behalf of the Ottawa Education Association with Superintendent Dean Katt pursuant to the parties' negotiated grievance procedure. (R. I, 14.)
- 10. The Association's level 3 grievance alleged that the Board's key request policy was a violation of the parties' 2009-2010 Negotiated Agreement, specifically, ARTICLE TWO GENERAL PROVISIONS, Section A: Maintenance of Standards. (R. I, 14.)
- 11. ARTICLE TWO GENERAL PROVISIONS, Section A: Maintenance of Standards, of the parties' 2009-2010 Negotiated Agreement provides as follows:

"Except as the Agreement shall otherwise provide, all terms and conditions of employment applicable on the signing date of this Agreement to employees covered by this Agreement, as established by the rules, regulations and/or policies of the Board in force on said date, shall continue to be so applicable during the terms of this Agreement, nothing contained herein shall be interpreted and/or applied to

deprive teachers of professional advantages enjoyed prior to the effective date of this Agreement."

(R. I, 14.)

- 12. The phrase "professional advantages" is not defined in the Negotiated Agreement to include the possession of keys or particular access to District buildings. (R. I, 14.)
- 13. In a decision dated January 26, 2010, Superintendent Katt denied the Association grievance and the relief sought therein, finding that the 2009-2010 Negotiated Agreement had not been violated when the Board adopted its Key Policy. (R. I, 14.)
- 14. In his grievance decision, Superintendent Katt stated that the Board agreed to modify the language of the policy as follows:

Each employee with possession of USD 290 keys is responsible for their keys and must report lost or stolen keys immediately. The employee will be charged \$350.00 - \$500.00 per key to allow district to re-key facility and reissue staff keys. The employee will be charged the cost of replacing applicable locks and keys up to \$500 per key.

(R. I, 14-15.)

- 15. In his grievance decision, Superintendent Katt stated that the Board further agreed to "install a keyless entry system at one location in the high school and middle school." (R. I, 15.)
- 16. In his grievance decision, Superintendent Katt further stated that the keyless entry system would allow teachers to swipe a card to enter the building instead of using a key, and that if a swipe card were lost, the replacement cost for the card would be minimal and the entry code could be reprogrammed at no cost. (R. I, 15.)
- 17. In his grievance decision, Superintendent Katt further stated that "the Board felt legitimate safety reasons existed for re-keying the facilities and putting a policy in place that would require more conscientious use of district keys by its employees." (R. I, 15.)

- 18. The Association appealed Superintendent Katt's decision denying their grievance to the Board at level 4 of the grievance procedure. (R. I, 15.)
- 19. In a decision dated February 10, 2010, Board president Brian Kane, on behalf of the Board, denied the Association's grievance and the relief sought therein. (R. I, 15.)
- 20. In the Board's grievance decision, Brian Kane, on behalf of the Board, stated "[w]e believe that the board acted within the rights granted to it in K.S.A. 72-8205(c) to adopt rules and regulations for teaching in the school district and subsection (e) of the same statute which provides, '[t]he board may transact all school district business and adopt policies that the board deems appropriate to perform its constitutional duty to maintain, develop, and operate local public schools.' "(R. I, 15.)
  - 21. In the Board's grievance decision, the Board found that:
    - The Board acted within its rights in making its key policy;
    - The 2009-2010 USD 290 Negotiated Agreement had not been violated;
    - The Board's Key Policy did not create a change in the terms or conditions of employment of the teachers in the District;
    - The Key Policy was not a mandatorily negotiable item.

## (R. I, 15-16.)

- 22. Under the Board's Key Policy, no employee will be given building keys unless that employee fills out and signs a Key Request Form. (R. I, 16.)
- 23. By signing the Key Request Form, bargaining unit members must assert that "I have received the key(s) listed above and I agree that if I lose the key(s) I must pay the cost of replacing applicable locks and keys up to \$500.00 for each key for the district to re-key the facility." (R. I, 16.)
- 24. Employees who want keys must agree to pay up to \$500 for lost or stolen keys before receiving any key(s). (R. I, 16.)

- 25. A true and accurate copy of the Key Policy is attached to the parties' Stipulations of Fact as Exhibit B. (R. I, 16.)
- 26. ARTICLE TWO GENERAL PROVISIONS, Section B: Management Rights, of the parties' 2009-2010 Negotiated Agreement provides as follows:

"It is understood and agreed that the Board retains those powers expressly granted to it by statute, including those necessarily implied, and that the statutes are to be strictly construed, including the right to make unilateral changes except as specifically limited by the provisions contained within this agreement. It is agreed that these provisions do not supersede the provisions of the agreement and are specifically limited by such agreement. The only limitation on any right of the board shall be by law or by the express limitation by specified provision contained within this agreement."

(R. I, 16.)

27. ARTICLE TWO – GENERAL PROVISIONS, Section E: Re-Opening Clause, of the parties' 2009-2010 Negotiated Agreement provides as follows:

"The Board and the Association agree to reopen negotiations over any mandatory negotiable topic upon the request of either the Board or the Association."

(R. I, 16.)

- 28. The Association noticed the Board's Key Policy for negotiation for the 2010-2011 school year. (R. I, 17.)
- 29. During 2010-2011 negotiations, the Board advised the Association that it did not want to discuss the Key Policy until the Complaint the Association filed with the Kansas Department of Labor was resolved. (R. I, 17.)
- 30. The Board and the Association continue to discuss the Key Policy during their interest based bargaining sessions. (R. I, 17.)
- 31. For the 2009-10 school year, the District spent \$734,215.80 on office supplies, furnishings, equipment, library supplies, and textbooks. (R. I, 17.)

32. As of the 2009-10 school year, the total replacement cost of the District's fixed assets in technology is \$1,407,109. (R. I, 17.)

## ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

1. THE MONETARY PENALTY IN THE BOARD OF EDUCATION'S "KEY RETURN POLICY" IS MANDATORILY NEGOTIABLE UNDER THE PROFESSIONAL NEGOTIATIONS ACT, K.S.A. 72-5413 et seg.

## Standard of Appellate Review

The issue of negotiability under the PNA is one of statutory interpretation. An appellate court exercises unlimited review on questions of statutory interpretation without deference to an administrative agency's interpretation of its authorizing statutes. *Ft. Hays St. Univ. v. University Ch., Am Ass'n of Univ. Profs*, 290 Kan. 446, Syl. ¶ 2, 228 P.3d 403 (2010). Furthermore, this prohibited practice case was submitted for decision by the Kansas Department of Labor on Motions for Summary Judgment based on Stipulated Facts. The district court's review of the agency's decision, likewise, was based exclusively on the record before the Secretary. Appellate courts have de novo review of a district court's decision based upon stipulated facts and documents. *Shirley v. Kansas Dept. of Revenue*, 45 Kan.App.2d 44, 46, 243 P.3d 708 (2010).

#### **ANALYSIS**

The method for determining whether a topic is mandatorily negotiable under the Professional Negotiations Act, K.S.A. 72-5413 et seq., is well-settled. If a topic for negotiation is specifically listed among "terms and conditions of professional service" in K.S.A. 72-5413(*l*) of the PNA, then that topic is by statute made mandatorily negotiable. *U.S.D. No. 352 v. NEA*-

Goodland, 246 Kan. 137, 141, 785 P.2d 993 (1990), (citing NEA-Wichita v. U.S.D. No. 259, 234 Kan. 512, Syl. ¶ 5, 674 P.2d 478 [1983]).

A topic need not be specifically listed in K.S.A. 72-5413(*l*), however, to be mandatorily negotiable as a term and condition of employment. *U.S.D. No. 501 v. Secretary of Kansas Dept. of Human Resources*, 235 Kan. 968, 969, 685 P.2d 874 (1984). In its decision in *U.S.D. No. 501*, the Court held that the "topic approach" is the proper method to be used by the Secretary and the district court in interpreting K.S.A. 72-5413(*l*):

"We have no hesitancy in holding that the topic approach is the method to be followed by the Secretary of the Kansas Department of Human Resources [now Department of Labor] and the district courts in determining whether certain items are mandatorily negotiable under K.S.A. 72-5413(*l*)."

U.S.D. No. 501, 235 Kan. at 969-71; accord, U.S.D. No. 352 v. NEA-Goodland, 246 Kan. at 141. To determine whether a topic is mandatorily negotiable under the topic approach "[a]ll that is required is that the subject matter of the specific proposal be within the purview of one of the categories listed under 'terms and conditions of professional service' in K.S.A. 72-5413(I)." U.S.D. No. 501, at 969.

Finally, under the topic approach, a board of education will be required to negotiate those aspects of a topic that come within the purview of one or more of the categories listed in K.S.A. 72-5413(*I*), even if the topic itself is within the managerial prerogative of the board. *Id.*, at 974-975.

a.) The Penalty Provision of the Board's Key Return Policy Comes Within the Purview of the Statutory Topic of "Salary and Wages"

One example of the application of the topic approach was considered by the Court in *U.S.D. No. 501*, whether the board of education was required to negotiate with the teachers'

association regarding the board's "Student Teacher Program." *Id.* The Court held that the Secretary and the district court had correctly found that, while the general subject of "Student Teacher Program" was not a mandatorily negotiable topic, under the topic approach, the mechanics of selecting teachers to participate in the student teacher program was within the purview of the mandatorily negotiable topic of "hours and amounts of work" under K.S.A. 72-5413(*l*). *Id.* at 975. Requiring the board to negotiate the mechanics of the student teacher program did not interfere with the board's managerial decision whether to participate in the student teacher program in the first place. *Id.* 

The monetary penalty under the Board's Key Return Policy in this case is precisely the same type of issue as the mechanics of the Student Teacher Program considered by the Court in *U.S.D. No. 501*. Like the general subject of "Student Teacher Program," the Board's Key Return Policy was not a mandatorily negotiable topic; in both cases, the board's decision is a managerial one. But like the mechanics of the student teacher program in *U.S.D. No. 501*, because the salary and wages of any teacher who loses her keys or has her keys stolen will be decreased by up to \$500 per key, the monetary penalty under the Board's Key Policy is within the purview of one of the enumerated topics in K.S.A. 72-5413(*I*), *i.e.*, "salary and wages." Like the mechanics of the student teacher program in *U.S.D. No. 501*, therefore, the monetary penalty under the Board's Key Return Policy is mandatorily negotiable under the Court's topic approach.

## b.) The Kansas Wage Payment Act

The Kansas Wage Payment Act, K.S.A. 44-313 et seq., controls many important aspects of the payment of wages and benefits to Kansas employees. "See Dick and Jane Work - A Kansas Wage Payment Act Primer," 72 J. Kan. Bar Assn. 9, 14-29 (2003). The monetary penalty in the Board's Key Return Policy is subject to the Wage Payment Act; consequently, it

necessarily comes within the purview of "salary and wages" under the PNA, and is mandatorily negotiable under the topic approach.

School districts are covered employers under the Kansas Wage Payment Act. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 44-313(a).

Under the Kansas Wage Payment Act,

"No employer may withhold, deduct or divert any portion of an employee's wages unless: . . . (3) the employer has a signed authorization by the employee for deductions for a lawful purpose accruing to the benefit of the employee; . . . ." K.S.A. 44-319(a) (emphasis added).

The Secretary of Labor has the authority to adopt rules and regulations necessary for administering and enforcing the provisions of the Wage Payment Act. K.S.A. 44-325. Among the regulations that the Secretary has adopted for enforcing the provisions of the Wage Payment Act is the following:

Authorized deductions, "accruing to the benefit of the employee" as used in K.S.A. 44-319(a)(3), shall mean deductions from an employee's pay for which the employer has received a signed authorization from the employee for lawful deductions that do not in any way waive, set aside or contravene any rights created in K.S.A. 44-313 et seq., as amended.

K.A.R. 49-20-1(a). Furthermore,

The following deductions shall not be considered authorized deductions "accruing to the benefit of the employee" within the meaning of K.S.A. 44-319(a)(3):

(A) Deductions made for cash and inventory shortages; breakage; returned checks or bad credit card sales; losses to employers resulting from burglaries, robberies, or alleged negligent acts.

. . .

K.A.R. 49-20-1(a)(2).

The monetary penalty of up to \$500 per key for lost or stolen keys under the Board's Key Return Policy is exactly the type of deduction from a employee's wages addressed by K.S.A. 44-319(a) and K.A.R. 49-20-1(a)(2)(A). During the last two sessions of the Kansas legislature, bills to amend K.S.A. 44-319 have been introduced that would specifically <u>allow</u> the Board to deduct a portion of a teacher's final wages to recover keys or access cards for buildings in the district. H.B. 2022 (2013) (as introduced)<sup>1</sup>; H.B. 2627 (2012) (as amended by House Committee of the Whole)<sup>2</sup>.

The monetary penalty in the Board's policy results in a decrease in the teacher's wages, a decrease that has been unilaterally imposed by the Board to cover losses to the District that result from the teacher's alleged negligence in allowing her keys to be lost or stolen. Furthermore, the Board's monetary penalty is subject to the Kansas Wage Payment Act. The monetary penalty portion of the Board's Policy plainly comes within purview of the statutory topic of "salary and wages" in K.S.A. 72-5413(*I*)(1); consequently, it is mandatorily negotiable under the topic approach.

Although the Secretary's Designee pays lip service to applying the topic approach, in the end, he abandons it. The Secretary's Designee accepted the argument that there are limits to the applicability of the topic approach, goes beyond what the legislature intended when it identified "salary and wages" as a mandatory topic of negotiations: finding that:

"As suggested and acknowledged, there are limits to the topic approach. This instance represents such limits." (R. I, 22, 24.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.kslegislature.org/li/b2013\_14/measures/documents/hb2022\_00\_0000.pdf (accessed 3/5/13)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://kslegislature.org/li 2012/b2011 12/measures/documents/hb2627 03 0000.pdf (accessed 3/5/13)

The agency decision in this case, and the district court in affirming that decision, directly conflicts with that of the Supreme Court, which has held that the "topic approach" specifically is in accord with the intent of the Kansas legislature, and is consistent with Kansas decisions. *U.S.D. No. 352 v. NEA-Goodland*, 246 Kan. 137, 141, 785 P.2d 993 (1990), (quoting *U.S.D. No. 501*, 235 Kan. at 970.) Indeed, the only support cited by the Secretary's Designee for his decision in this case is the dissenting opinion *U.S.D. No. 501*:

To conclude that Respondent's Key Policy is within the purview of "salaries and wages", one of "the legislature's detailed specific designation of matters subject to negotiation" under the PNA, would "by construction engraft [another] not enumerated by the legislature", an unreasonable reading of the statute. See Unified School District No. 501 v. Secretary of Kansas Department of Human Resources, 235 Kan. 968, 976, 685 P.2d 874 (1984)(Schroeder, Chief Justice, dissenting).

## (R. I., 25.)

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