APR - 9 2013

No. 13-109308-A

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

Ottawa Education Association
Petitioner-Appellant,
v.
Secretary of the Kansas Department of Labor

And

Board of Education of USD 290, Franklin County, Kansas Respondent-Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Franklin County, Kansas Honorable Eric W. Godderz, Judge District Court Case No. 12CV136

I. ISSUES ON APPEAL

Respondent concurs with Petitioner's statement of the issues as set forth in the Brief of Appellant, Issues on Appeal, pg. 2.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent concurs with Petitioner's factual statements of the case as set forth in the Brief of Appellant, Statement of Facts, pgs. 2-7.

III. ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

The Kansas Department of Labor ("KDOL") correctly determined that the Key Policy at issue is not mandatorily negotiable under the Professional Negotiations Act ("PNA"), and therefore, the Board of Education did not commit a prohibited practice when it adopted the Key Policy without first engaging in negotiations with the OEA. Petitioner OEA has failed to meet its burden under the Kansas Judicial Review Act to prove that the KDOL's determination is invalid. Therefore, the agency determination, which was affirmed by the district court, must be upheld on appeal.

A. The Monetary Penalty In the Board of Education's "Key Return Policy" Is Not Mandatorily Negotiable Under the Professional Negotiations Act, K.S.A. 72-5413 et seq.

The OEA incorrectly argues that because the Key Policy imposes a replacement fee for lost or stolen keys, it falls within the purview of "salaries and wages," which are mandatorily negotiable topics under K.S.A. 72-5413(l)(1). However, neither the facts nor the law support Petitioner's argument. Therefore, the determination of the KDOL, as affirmed by the district court, must be upheld.

Standard of Appellate Review

KDOL actions are reviewable under the Kansas Judicial Review Act ("KJRA"), K.S.A. 77-601 et. seq. See K.S.A. 44-322a(c). Appellate review is statutorily defined by the KJRA. See *Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Kansas, Inc. v. Praeger*, 276 Kan. 232, 245, 75 P.3d 226 (2003). The appellate court exercises the same statutorily limited reviews of the KDOL's action as does the district court, *i.e.*, "as though the appeal had been made directly to this court." 276 Kan. at 245.

The KJRA defines the scope of judicial review of state agency actions unless the agency is specifically exempt by statute. *In the Matter of the Appeal of Lafarge Midwest/Martin Tractor Co., Inc.,* 293 Kan. 1039, 1043, 271 P. 3d 732 (2012). Under the KJRA, the burden of proving the invalidity of the agency action is on the party asserting invalidity. *Id.;* 276 Kan. at 245; K.S.A. 77-621(a)(1). The KJRA articulates eight circumstances in which a court may grant relief. *Fort Hays State University v. Fort Hays State University Chapter, et al.,* 290 Kan. 446, 456. 228 P. 3d 403 (2010)(citing K.S.A. 2009 Supp. 77-621(c)). The provision most applicable to the threshold issue on appeal in this case is whether the agency erroneously interpreted or applied the law.

To the extent resolution of the issues necessitates statutory interpretation, the appellate court's review is unlimited. *Schmidtlien Electric, Inc. v. Greathouse*, 278 Kan. 810, 819, 104 P. 3d. 378 (2005). Special rules apply, however, when considering whether an administrative agency erroneously interpreted or applied the law. *Id.* The interpretation of a statute by an administrative agency charged with the responsibility of enforcing that statute is entitled to judicial deference. *Id.* This deference is sometimes called the doctrine of operative construction. If there is a rational basis for the agency's

interpretation, it should be upheld on judicial review. *Id.* However, the determination of an administrative body as to questions of law is not conclusive and, while persuasive, is not binding on the courts. *Id.*

Deference to an agency's interpretation is especially appropriate when the agency is one of special competence and experience. *Id.* However, the final construction of a statute always rests with the courts. *Id.*

The KDOL is an agency of special competence and experience. See *Coma Corporation d/b/a/ Burrito Express, et al. v. Kansas Department of Labor, et al.*, 283 Kan. 625, 629, 154 P. 3d 1080 (2007). Accordingly, the doctrine of operative construction applies to its interpretation of the PNA. *Id.*

Legal Analysis

1. The penalty provision of the Board's key return policy does not come within the purview of the statutory topic of "Salary and Wages."

The PNA, K.S.A. 72-5413 et seq., was enacted by the Kansas Legislature in 1970. Kansas Session Laws, 190, Ch. 284, § 1. The statute's "underlying purpose . . . is to encourage good relationships between a board of education and its professional employees." Liberal-NEA v. Board of Education, 211 Kan. 219, 232 (1973). To promote these ends, the statute authorizes that a school district's professional employees may form and join professional employee organizations in order to conduct negotiations with their employer school boards. Such negotiations are conducted "for the purpose of establishing, maintaining, protecting or improving terms and conditions of professional service." K.S.A. 72-5414. "Terms and conditions of professional service" is statutorily defined and includes specific subject matter. See K.S.A. 72-5413(1).

K.S.A. 72-5413(l) of the PNA contains the express list of mandatorily negotiable terms and conditions of employment. The list of mandatorily negotiable topics includes "salaries and wages, including pay for duties under supplemental contracts." K.S.A. 72-5413(l)(1)(A).

In *U.S.D. 501 v. Secretary of Kansas Dept. of Human Resources*, 235 Kan. 968, 971, 685 P.2d 874 (1984), the Kansas Supreme Court adopted the "topic approach" as the method to be used by the KDOL and the district courts in determining whether proposals are mandatorily negotiable under K.S.A. 72-5413(l). Under this approach, a proposal does not need to be specifically listed in the statute to be considered mandatorily negotiable, but the subject matter of the proposal must be "within the purview of one of the categories listed under 'terms and conditions of professional service'" in K.S.A. 72-5413(l). 235 Kan. at 969.

The topic approach adopted by the Court in *U.S.D. 501*, was first suggested in *Chee-Craw Teachers Ass'n v. U.S.D. 247*, 225 Kan. 561, 593 P.2d 406 (1979). The Court in *U.S.D. 501* noted *Chee-Craw* established certain guidelines to be followed by the Court in determining whether a particular item is mandatorily negotiable. In discussing the application of the topic approach, the *Chee-Craw* Court stated:

Further, the district court may, where appropriate, conclude that a proposal which literally comes within a statutorily negotiable item is not included within the item because it goes beyond what was intended by the legislature to be included with the item. An example of this would be a proposal to require the Board to pay all teachers' wages in a lump sum to the Association and the Association would pay the teachers. This is technically a 'wages' item, but goes far beyond what is intended for the item.

Id. at 568.

In NEA-Topeka v. U.S.D. 501, Topeka, Kansas, 72-CAE-6-1982, the Secretary of the Department of Human Resources (now the KDOL) was presented with a complaint by the National Education Association of Topeka ("NEA-Topeka") alleging, among other things, that U.S.D. 501 committed a prohibited practice by failing to negotiate with NEA-Topeka regarding the safety of district facilities. In determining that building safety was not a mandatorily negotiable item, the Secretary's designee stated:

Unsafe conditions in the employer's facilities are governed by both federal and state statute and local ordinances. As such, they are matters to be addressed by the employer and the appropriate federal, state or local authorities. Employees are expected to call such unsafe conditions to the employer's attention. However, the procedures for notification and correction of unsafe conditions are not mandatory subjects of negotiation.

...[T]he Secretary finds nothing with K.S.A. 72-5413(l) to require an employer to negotiate [regarding the safety of District facilities].

The subject of physical facilities is at best permissively negotiable and the district was within its rights to refuse to negotiate the subject.

NEA-Topeka v. U.S.D. 501, Topeka, Kansas, 72-CAE-6-1982, p. 12.

The OEA alleges that because a provision in the Board's Key Policy requires employees who lose building keys to reimburse the Board, the policy is within the purview of "salary and wages." This broad interpretation of "within the purview" goes well beyond what the legislature intended when it identified "salary and wages" as a mandatory topic of negotiations and is unreasonable.

The reasoning by the Court in *Chee-Craw* illustrates the point that there are limits to the applicability of the topic approach. "Access to District facilities," "access to keys to District facilities," and "safety and security of District staff, students and property" are

the "topics" or subject matter addressed by the Key Policy. To infer that the payment of a replacement fee for lost keys somehow equates to salary and wages goes far beyond what was intended by the legislature in providing a list of mandatorily negotiable topics.

In reviewing K.S.A 72-5413(l)(1), the definition of "terms and conditions of professional service" does not include any reference to "access to District facilities," "access to keys to District facilities" or "safety and security of District staff, students and property." Moreover, there do not appear to be any Kansas state or federal court cases interpreting any of the topics listed within the definition of "terms and conditions of professional service" to include access to District facilities or keys to District facilities or security of District facilities. Whether an employee chooses to request a District building key is purely optional, it is not a compulsory term of employment. Thus, under any approach, including the topic approach, the Key Policy is not a term or condition of professional service subject to mandatory negotiation.

K.S.A. 72-5413(l)(1)(A) includes "salaries and wages" in the definition of "terms and conditions of professional service." The OEA erroneously argues that the Key Policy falls within the "topic" of "salaries and wages" because the Policy imposes a replacement fee if employees lose their keys. The OEA's theory is that a replacement fee affects teachers' "salaries and wages" and thus is within the purview of one of the topics listed under "terms and conditions of professional service." Again, no Kansas court, state or federal, has stretched the topic of "salaries and wages" to include something akin to the Key Policy. Further, no Kansas court, state or federal, has ever held some action or proposal to be mandatorily negotiable under the purview or topic of "salaries and wages" simply because the proposed action imposed a replacement fee.

The Board of Education's purpose in adopting the Key Policy was to protect the safety and security of students and staff. A finding that the Key Replacement Policy is a mandatory topic of negotiation would have the effect of undermining the Board's ability to enact policies for safety and security, topics that clearly fall outside those listed as mandatory topics in K.S.A. 72-5413(l). As determined in *NEA-Topeka v. U.S.D. 501*, *Topeka, Kansas*, a policy intended to protect the safety and security of students and staff is not mandatorily negotiable under the PNA.

Under applicable Kansas law, the Key Policy is not a mandatorily negotiable topic under the PNA. The Petitioner has failed to meet its burden under the KJRA. Therefore, the appellate court must uphold the agency's determination.

2. Kansas Wage Payment Act

The OEA's arguments concerning the Kansas Wage Payment Act ("KWPA") fail. First, the OEA failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Even had the OEA properly preserved this issue for appeal, the OEA's arguments are misplaced because the KWPA does not apply to the Key Policy.

a. The OEA failed to preserve for appellate review its KWPA arguments.

The OEA's arguments first fail because the OEA failed to raise the KWPA in either its Complaint or its prehearing questionnaire with the KDOL. Therefore, the issue has not been properly preserved for appellate review.

While no specific Kansas statute, rule or regulation addresses the role of administrative complaints and prehearing questionnaires for appellate review, the prehearing questionnaire in the administrative hearing is clearly analogous to the pre-trial order in a civil district court proceeding. With respect to pre-trial orders, Kansas courts

have held that issues not raised in a pre-trial order are deemed waived. *Dold v. Sherow*, 220 Kan. 350, 353 (1976). The purpose for such a rule is to alleviate surprise, and to allow the parties to prepare for only those items that are at issue in a case. See *State ex rel. Robert T. Stephan v. GAF Corporation*, *et al.*, 242 Kan. 152, 161, 747 P. 2d 1326 (1987)(relying upon *Dold* to determine that an issue not raised in the pretrial order is not properly preserved for appellate review).

On April 19, 2010, the OEA filed its Complaint with the KDOL. (R. II, 1) In its Complaint, the OEA alleged that the Board of Education violated the PNA, but made no mention of any purported violation of the KWPA. (Id.)

On or about June 23, 2010, the OEA filed its prehearing questionnaire. (R. II, 20) As with its Complaint, OEA made no mention of any purported violation of the KWPA. In fact, under the heading "Issues," the OEA stated that the <u>only</u> issue involved in this case was "[w]hether the Board of Education of Unified School District No. 290, Ottawa, Kansas committed a prohibited practice in violation of K.S.A. 72-5430(b)(5) by making a unilateral change in the mandatorily negotiable topic of "salary and wages" when it unilaterally instituted the new key policy which requires teachers to pay for lost or stolen keys." (R. II, 126). The first time the OEA mentioned a purported violation of the KWPA by the Board of Eduction was when the OEA filed its brief with the KDOL (which was filed simultaneously with the Respondent's brief).

An issue or claim for relief that is not contained in the pretrial order should not be entertained by the trial court, and is therefore, also not properly preserved for review by

¹ This page is out of numerical sequence in the record on appeal because it was inadvertently omitted from the initial KDOL Agency Record, but was subsequently added by the KDOL when the error was discovered.

the appellate court. See *State ex rel. Robert T. Stephan v. GAF Corporation, et al.*, 242 Kan. at 161. Similarly, issues or theories not raised in a prehearing questionnaire in an agency action should be deemed waived and not properly preserved for appellate review.

b. Even if the KWPA arguments were properly preserved for appellate review, the KWPA does not apply to the issues raised in OEA's Complaint.

Even if the OEA had properly preserved its KWPA arguments for appellate review, it cannot show that the KWPA applies to the issues in this case. In its brief, the OEA erroneously argues that enforcement of the Key Policy would violate the KWPA and the rules and regulations adopted to enforce it. Specifically, the OEA argues that the District's Key Policy violates K.A.R. 49-20-1(a)(2), which states:

The following deductions shall not be considered authorized deductions "accruing to the benefit of the employee" within the meaning of K.S.A. 44-319(a)(3):

(A) Deductions made for cash and inventory shortages; breakage; returned checks or bad credit card sales; losses to employers resulting from burglaries, robberies, or alleged negligent acts....

K.A.R. 49-20-1(a)(2).

The OEA's argument is misguided for a number of reasons.

First, the Key Policy is not properly considered a "deduction" under the KWPA. The District's Key Policy does not impose or implement a direct withdrawal from an employee's paycheck. Instead, the Key Policy simply assesses a replacement fee for lost or stolen keys. This fee is used to not only replace the key, but also to re-key District facilities (as needed). If a staff member loses a key, the School District does not automatically withdraw the replacement fee from the employee's paycheck. Rather, the

employee must separately pay the School District whatever fees are incurred for replacing the key and re-keying any facilities (up to \$500).

Second, even if the payment of a fee for replacing keys and re-keying facilities can be deemed a "deduction" from a teacher's salary, the regulations do not support the OEA's argument that the key policy constitutes a deduction for "losses to employers resulting from burglaries, robberies, or alleged negligent acts." Clearly, the intent of the regulation is to prevent employers from shifting to their employees, costs associated with intentional or negligent conduct by third parties. The fee provisions of the District's Key Policy, on the other hand, are geared towards encouraging more conscientious use of School District property (i.e., keys) by employees.

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